A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Northland Services, Inc. ("Northland") asks this Court to accept 

review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals filed its published decision on August 4, 

2014. A copy of this decision is in the Appendix pages A-1 through A-18. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

As a matter of first impression, under RCW 49.60.210(1) does an 
independent contractor have a claim for retaliation when the sole basis for 
the person's complaint was overhearing a derogatory statement made by a 
fellow independent contractor to another independent contractor, and thus 
the contractor could have no objectively reasonable belief that contracting 
principal engaged in any practice prohibited by the Washington Law 
Against Discrimination, RCW ch. 49.60 ("WLAD")? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The recitation of the facts in the Court of Appeals opinion omits 

numerous facts relevant to the resolution of this case. Northland offers 

these additional relevant facts. 

Larry Currier was an owner/operator of trucks, as that term is 

understood in the trucking industry. See 49 C.P.R. § 376. 

Owner/operators are independent contractors. Currier operated his 

independent business of leasing his trucks in a corporate form - American 
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Container Express. 1 Currier was himself a commercial truck driver 

providing drayage services to Northland to transport cargo to and from its 

terminal between 2005 and 2008. RP 128, 198. 

Beginning in 2008, Currier's contract performance began to 

seriously decline. RP 531-32, 635-36. Currier performed much more 

slowly than other drivers for the same drayage work. CP 392; RP 532. 

Northland dispatchers observed him hiding from Northland's forklift 

operators who were responsible for loading Currier's truck with cargo, 

allowing Currier to get paid without doing work. RP 556, 624. Currier 

engaged in shouting matches with other drivers, causing morale problems 

among them, CP 635; RP 552, and even argued loudly with Northland's 

dispatch supervisor, Patrick Franssen, in the dispatch office. CP 392; RP 

536. Currier was observed sitting in his truck in a secluded spot in the 

north end of the terminal and not working for extended periods of time, 

although he was being paid. RP 714. Currier was verbally intimidating 

and sexist toward a Northland employee. RP 713. Currier's interaction 

1 Currier was the sole owner of respondent American Container Express, Inc. 
("ACE"), which contracted with Northland to provide trucking services to move 
Northland's cargo to and from Terminal 115 at the Port of Seattle. CP 388-89. The 
terms and conditions of ACE's agreement with Northland are set forth in their 
Subcontractor Agreement, which Currier signed as President of ACE. Ex. 53. The terms 
of that Agreement required Currier to comply with all federal, state and local laws. Ex. 
53; CP 389; RP 671. The Agreement could be terminated by either party on 30 days' 
notice or immediately upon default in performance. Ex. 53. Under the explicit terms of 
the contract Currier was solely an independent contractor, not an employee of Northland. 
/d. 
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was so threatening and intimidating that the employee told him not to 

come into her work area again while she was alone, and she alerted other 

drivers to his behavior. /d. 

Northland's dispatchers also began receiving complaints about 

Currier's performance from other drivers and Northland's customers. RP 

432-33, 536-40, 635-37. Currier repeatedly complained to Northland's 

dispatchers about how the other drivers were not doing their jobs correctly 

despite his own performance problems. RP 533, 644. His attitude was so 

disruptive that one of the drivers asked Northland's dispatchers to keep 

Currier away from him. CP 393; RP 645. 

Northland's dispatchers met with Currier about his behavior before 

his contract was terminated, RP 541, 640, warning him about complaints 

made by the other drivers, his job performance, his unpredictability, and 

his anger management issues. RP 546, 640-41. After Currier yelled at 

another driver and tried to start a fight with him in the Northland dispatch 

office, RP 551-52, 637-39, Northland's dispatchers gave Currier an 

ultimatum that if his attitude did not improve, they would terminate his 

contract. RP 554, 641. 

After his near fight, Currier was outside in Northland's freight yard 

when he overheard a comment made by one independent contractor truck 

driver to another independent contractor truck driver. CP 390-91; RP 163-
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65. Apparently, the contractor thought the offensive comment was funny. 

!d. The offensive comment related to the contractor's national origin, 

Mexican. !d. Currier knew the two drivers were both independent 

contractors, not employees of Northland. RP 198. No one from 

Northland was present or heard the comment. RP 573-74, 774. 

Currier decided to tell Northland's Quality Assurance manager, 

Judi McQuade, about it. RP 349. McQuade then spoke with both the 

drivers and told them that that kind of humor was not tolerated at 

Northland and that the commenter was to stop making those kinds of 

jokes. RP 535. Currier claimed he overheard other derogatory comments 

made by independent contractor drivers about Mexicans at Northland's 

terminal, RP 161, 199-200, 212, but he had never previously complained 

to Northland. No one from Northland had ever previously heard anyone 

make any discriminatory statement. RP 199-200, 675, 774. 

Ultimately, in August 2008, Currier's contract was terminated 

because of his declining work performance, his substandard work relative 

to other independent owner/operators, and his behavior that was highly 

disruptive to Northland's freight operations. RP 554-55, 561, 565; Ex. 55. 

Six days after termination, Northland also discovered that Currier's 

truck tires were dangerously bald and his truck license had been expired 

for more than six years, RP 660, 666-67, additional grounds for 

Petition for Review - 4 



termination of Currier's contract as he was not operating in compliance 

with federal and state law. RP 671; Ex. 53. 

Currier alleged his contract was terminated m retaliation for 

opposing employment discrimination. CP 396. Before trial, Northland 

moved for summary judgment, arguing Currier's complaint did not fall 

within RCW 49.60.210(1) as he was not opposing a practice prohibited by 

WLAD, specifically employment discrimination by Northland. Northland 

argued Currier therefore could not establish a prima facie case. CP 297. 

On summary judgment, Currier admitted his retaliation claim was not 

based on discrimination by Northland. CP 253. Nevertheless, the trial 

court denied Northland's motion. CP 336-37. 

In a bench trial, the trial court found in favor of Currier on his 

retaliation claim but it made a number of critical findings: (1) Currier 

only reported to Northland a single derogatory statement made by 

independent contractor/driver Howell to independent contractor/driver 

Martinez, CP 389-91; (2) the Mexican contractor took no offense to the 

comments, CP 391, 394; (3) Northland had legitimate, non-discriminatory 

reasons for terminating Currier's contract, CP 392-93, 397; (4) Currier's 

truck tires were nearly bald and his truck license was expired, CP 395; and 

(5) Currier was obligated to operate in compliance with federal and state 

law, and his contract could be terminated immediately for failure to 
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comply, CP 389. However, the trial court still found in favor of Currier on 

his retaliation claim. Op. at 4-5. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED2 

Review is merited here under RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2), and (4). The 

published Court of Appeals decision is contrary to decisional law on the 

prima facie elements of an action under RCW 49.60.21 0(1 ), as well as this 

Court's treatment of independent contractors under the WLAD. RAP 

13.4(b)(l) and (2). The Court of Appeals opinion also represents a vast 

expansion of RCW 49.60.210(1), making the WLAD into, in effect, a 

"general civility code," which the Court of Appeals has warned courts 

against doing. Alonso v. Qwest Communications Co., LLC, 178 Wn. App. 

734, 747, 315 P.3d 610 (2013). This important issue of first impression 

merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

(1) The Court of Appeals Opinion Is in Conflict with This 
Court's Authority Regarding What Constitutes Protected 
Opposition Activity 

2 This Court is fully familiar with the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) 
governing acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals decision. 
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At its core, this case involves the appropriate construction of the 

plain language3 of a statute, RCW 49.60.210.4 That statute states: 

It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment 
agency, labor union, or other person to discharge, expel, or 
otherwise discriminate against any person because he or 
she has opposed any practices forbidden by this chapter.5 

RCW 49.60.210(1) (emphasis added). 

As the unambiguous language of the statute states, the referenced 

opposition activity must be directed toward practices forbidden by the 

WLAD. Coville v. Cobarc Services, Inc., 73 Wn. App. 433, 440, 869 P.2d 

1103 (1994). RCW 49.60.210(1). Blackford v. Battelle Mem 'I Inst., 57 

F.Supp.2d 1095, 1099 (E.D. Wash. 1999). 

(a) The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts With 
Decisions of This Court and of the Court of Appeals 
Holding the Complaining Party Must Have an 
Objectively Reasonable Belief the Defendant 
Violated the Law 

3 In construing a statute, the Court's objective is to determine legislative intent. 
State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600-01, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). The Court looks first to 
the plain language and ordinary meaning of the words to ascertain the Legislature's 
intent. Eubanks v. Brown, 180 Wn.2d 590, 597, 327 P.3d 635 (2014). When the 
language of the statute is unambiguous, it is the expression of the Legislature's intent. !d. 
The language ofRCW 49.60.210(1) is unambiguous. 

4 The defmitive interpretation of a statute is certainly an important reason why 
this case merits review. 

5 Practices forbidden by RCW Ch. 49.60 include discrimination in credit 
transactions (RCW 49.60.175-.176), insurance transactions (RCW 49.60.178), public 
accommodation (RCW 49.60.190), service animals (RCW 49.60.218), and real estate 
transactions (RCW 49.60.222-.224). Practices forbidden by RCW Ch. 49.60 also include 
discrimination in employment, RCW 49.60.180. Currier only claimed retaliation for 
opposing discrimination in employment. CP 397. 
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The Court of Appeals did correctly observe that to sustain a claim 

for retaliation, the complaining party need not prove that an actual 

violation of the law occurred. Op. at 1 0; Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 

Wn.2d 450, 460, 13 P.3d 1065, 1071 (2000); Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wn. 

App. 110, 130, 951 P.2d 321 (1998); Graves v. Department of Game, 76 

Wn. App. 705, 712, 887 P.2d 424 (1994). Even if the actions reported do 

not actually violate the WLAD, the complaining party may still have a 

retaliation claim if that person has "an objectively reasonable belief' that 

he is opposing a forbidden practice. Ellis, 142 Wn.2d at 460. 

However, this Court has also made clear that in a retaliatory 

discharge claim, the complaining party must reasonably believe another 

party "has violated the law." !d. at 460 (emphasis added). Citing cases 

including Graves and Kahn that involve everything from state 

whistleblower statutes to federal civil rights laws, this Court in Ellis held 

that a retaliation cause of action exists for opposing conduct that the 

person objectively reasonably believes violates the law. !d., citing Kahn, 

90 Wn. App. at 130; Graves, 76 Wn. App. at 712. 

Relying on three Court of Appeals cases, including Graves and 

Kahn, the Court of Appeals here misstated and contradicted the standard 

this Court set in Ellis. Op. at 11 n.29. The court said that "Washington 
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cases have likewise held that a plaintiff ... need only show that he or she 

reasonably believed [the conduct] was discriminatory." Id. at 10-11 

(emphasis added). The court did not affirm this Court's holding that a 

party needs to have an objectively reasonable belief that conduct violated 

the law. !d. 

Applying this incorrect standard - that a retaliation claim may be 

based on a belief an act is generally "discriminatory" - the Court of 

Appeals went on to hold that Currier met the standard. Op. at 11. It held 

that Currier had a reasonable belief that one independent contractor's 

racist statement to another independent contractor "was a discriminatory 

practice." Op. at 11. The court did not address how one statement could 

be objectively reasonably believed to constitute a "practice." The court 

also did not address the fact that this "practice" was not engaged in by 

Northland, but by an independent contractor who was not Northland's 

employee. The court also did not address how Currier had an objectively 

reasonable belief that Northland had violated the WLAD. 

It was not objectively reasonable, even for a layperson unfamiliar 

with the specifics of WLAD, to believe that Northland violated the law 

when it had no involvement in the independent contractor's statement. In 

fact, Currier admitted that he knew Northland had not engaged m 

employment discrimination. CP 253. Currier knew and admitted that 
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both Howell and Martinez, whose racially derogatory joke he opposed, 

were independent contractors, RP 198, and the trial court found as such. 

CP 390. Currier could not claim retaliation for opposing a discriminatory 

statement solely between two fellow independent contractors unless he 

had an objectively reasonable belief that the statement constituted 

employment discrimination by Northland. Thus, his alleged opposition 

activity was unrelated to any violation of law by Northland, or any 

subjective or objective belief in such a violation, and his retaliation claim 

should have been dismissed as a matter of law. CP 297. 

The opinion here contradicts the standard this Court set in Ellis, 

meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). To prevail on his claim, Currier 

could not simply assert - as the Court of Appeals held - that he observed 

generalized "discrimination." Op. at 11. He had to show he had an 

objectively reasonable belief that Northland violated the law.6 Ellis, 142 

Wn.2d at 460. 

6 Federal law has made this distinction very clear. In Silver v. KCA, Inc., 586 
F.2d 138 (9th Cir. 1978), a plaintiff sued her employer for retaliatory termination for 
opposing a single racist remark made by a white employee about an African-American 
co-worker. The Ninth Circuit affirmed the trial court's dismissal of her claim, holding 
that Silver's complaint only involved the comments of one employee about another 
employee and did not involve a practice of any kind by the employer. Her opposition was 
not protected by the anti-retaliation statute: "The specific evil at which Title VII was 
directed was not the eradication of all discrimination by private individuals, undesirable 
though that is, but the eradication of discrimination by employers against employees." 
586 F.2d at 141. The court reasoned that to allow a retaliation claim under such facts 
would plainly exceed the scope of the anti-retaliation statute. !d. 
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(b) The Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts With 
Decisions of This Court and the Court of Appeals 
that Isolated Statements by Independent Contractors 
Do Not Constitute Employment Discrimination 
under RCW 49.60.030 

In holding that Currier had a reasonable belief he was opposing "a 

discriminatory practice," the Court of Appeals cited RCW 49.60.030, 

which "guarantees the right to obtain and hold employment without 

discrimination." Op. at 11. 

The plain language of RCW 49.60.030 does not prohibit one 

independent businessperson from making a discriminatory statement to 

another independent businessperson. It certainly does not hold businesses 

accountable for the isolated discriminatory statements of unrelated third 

parties that happen to take place on their premises. 

Cases arising under the WLAD have applied this plain language to 

conclude that in order to sustain an employment discrimination retaliation 

claim, there must be some evidence that actual employment discrimination 

has occurred. In Coville, the plaintiff was a female janitor at the federal 

courthouse in Yakima who witnessed a co-worker engaged in 

inappropriate sexual behavior in the courthouse basement. She 

complained to her manager who told her that they were not going to take 

action against her co-worker and they warned her that she must return to 

work. After a period of leave for mental stress over what she witnessed, 
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Coville eventually turned in her keys. The employer assumed she 

resigned. But Coville filed suit for retaliatory termination. The Court of 

Appeals upheld a directed verdict against her retaliation claim because 

"the evidence ... was not sufficient to sustain a jury verdict that she was 

engaged in protected opposition activity." !d. at 440 (court's emphasis). 

See also, Alonso, 178 Wn. App. at 753-54 (no retaliation claim where 

employee called company hotline to complain about conduct not 

prohibited under WLAD). 

Federal courts applying WLAD reach the same conclusion. The 

plaintiff in Blacliford had a history of communication and productivity 

problems, and he was counseled to improve his performance. Blacliford, 

57 F. Supp.2d at 1 097. Blackford complained to a congressman that his 

last performance evaluation was retaliation for his efforts to support equal 

employment in the workplace. !d. Blackford's performance continued to 

decline and his employment was eventually terminated. He sued his 

employer, Battelle, for retaliatory discharge, but the court found that 

because Blackford submitted no admissible evidence that Battelle 

arguably discriminated against anyone, he could not sustain his claim of 

retaliation under RCW 49.60.210(1). !d. at 1099-1100. 

Other federal courts have specifically held that opposition to 

employment discrimination does not apply to "[ d]iscriminatory comments 

Petition for Review- 12 



or actions directed at persons who are not employees, such as independent 

contractors or subcontractors." Martin v. Kroger Co., 65 F.Supp.2d 516, 

556-57 (S.D. Tex. 1999) aff'd, 224 F.3d 765 (5th Cir. 2000) (complaints 

about racist and sexist comments made by subcontractors in a construction 

project; "Martin's opposition to nondiscriminatory or non-protected 

practices does not qualify as a protected activity under the opposition 

clause."). 

A single derogatory joke between two independent contractors is 

not unlawful employment discrimination. See Clark County Sch. Dist. v. 

Breeden, 532 U.S. 268, 271, 121 S. Ct. 1508, 1510, 149 L.Ed.2d 509 

(2001) (no reasonable person could have believed that a single sexually 

derogatory remark between two employees violated Title VII for purposes 

of an opposition clause retaliation claim); see also, Silver, 586 F.2d at 142 

("A single unauthorized act of discrimination by a co-worker has never 

been held to justify 'opposition' in the sense of protecting a protesting 

employee from employer discipline."). 

There was no evidence in the record of any discriminatory 

employment practice by Northland. It is undisputed that Currier knew 

both Howell and Martinez were independent contractors and not 

employees at the time Howell made the derogatory joke to Martinez. RP 

198. There is no evidence in the record that any employee of Northland 
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was present, heard, or was involved in the joke at the time it was made, 

which was outside in the freight yard of a public terminal. Similarly, there 

is no evidence in the record that anyone else ever complained about 

discrimination at Northland. CP 394. While Currier witnessed what 

theoretically could be described as discriminatory conduct between two 

fellow independent contractors, it was certainly not discriminatory 

conduct approved, condoned, or made by any employee or manager of 

Northland such that it could constitute employment discrimination. 

Martinez was never discriminated against by Northland. Martinez 

himself never complained to Northland about the joke, RP 673, and 

Martinez is still an independent contractor truck driver providing drayage 

services to Northland who, since 2008, has received an increase in his 

contract rate. CP 148-49. 

Currier admitted that his claimed opposition was not to any 

employment discrimination by Northland at all. CP 253 (Currier's 

retaliation claim "isn't based upon NSI's discrimination.") (emphasis in 

original). Here, it is undisputed that Currier never made any complaint to 

Northland about any statement he believed to be discriminatory other than 

the one complaint he made to McQuade on August 12, 2008. Currier 

testified he observed at least three other incidents he believed involved 

discriminatory conduct. CP 389; RP 212, 266. However, none of those 
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alleged statements was made by a Northland employee. RP 198. While 

Currier also testified he complained about racist and sexist remarks he

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