90858-3

Washington State Supreme Court SEP 3 0 2014

App. Ct. No. 70128-2-I

.

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

LARRY CURRIER, LARRY CURRIER DBA AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, and AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, INC.

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

NORTHLAND SERVICES, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner.

F	OCT - 7 2014	Answer to Petition for Review
CLER	OCT - FORME COURT KOF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON	Asa C. Garber, WSBA # 43588 2300 9 th Ave SW, Unit A7 Olympia, WA 98502 P: (360) 701-5969 F: (360) 639-8678
		Hugh J. McGavick, WSBA # 12047 Law Office of Hugh J. McGavick 11660 SW Lancaster Rd. Portland, OR 97219 P: (503) 246-2094 F: (503) 244-6233

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

III. Argument

A. Retaliation victims do not need perfect legal or factual knowledge of the underlying potential discrimination claim.

To receive protection against retaliation, a victim need only show he or she had a reasonable belief of prohibited discriminatory conduct. *See Estevez v. Faculty Club*, 129 Wn.App. 774, 798, 120 P.3d 579 (2005) (citing Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wn.App. 110, 130, 951 P.2d 321, review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1016 (1998)); Graves v. Dept. of Game, 76 Wn.App. 705, 887 P.2d 424 (1994) (citing Gifford v. Atkinson, Topeka & Santa Fe Ry., 685 F.2d 1149 (9th Cir. 1982)); accord under federal law, Trent v. Valley Electric Assoc. Inc., 41 F.3d 524, 526 (9th Cir. 1994), rejecting Silver v. KCA, Inc., 586 F.2d 138 (9th Cir. 1978). In layman's terms, could an average person believe that what she or he just saw was prohibited discrimination?

The legal arguments NSI raises in its Petition do not alter the fact that Currier, a non-lawyer, had a reasonable belief the conduct he observed was impermissibly discriminatory. Here, someone (a) paid by NSI, (b) present to conduct NSI business, (c) having just spoken to NSI dispatchers (i.e. NSI employees), one of whom had previously made racist comments and the other who had ignored racist comments made in his presence, (d) yelled racist comments from the NSI dispatch porch to a minority, implying the minority received less favorable work assignments because of his minority status.

1. A reasonable person is not a legal clairvoyant.

Accepting NSI's argument – Currier could not have had a reasonable, layperson's belief that what he observed was prohibited discrimination – would require a non-lawyer to know:

• Whether the individuals involved were legally-cognizable as independent contractors, since the label does not mean that person *legally* qualifies as an independent contractor, *see, e.g., Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 314, 258 P.3d 20 (2011);

• The legal significance of being an independent contractor under a given law, *see, e.g., Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 460, 476-77, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) (where the Port's duty to maintain a safe work environment extended to individuals labeled independent contractors);

• Whether, and to what extent, independent contractors have WLAD protection against discrimination. This inquiry requires legal analysis and speculation as to what extent *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 922 P.2d 43 (1996) provides protection to independent contractors against discrimination under RCW 49.60.030(1), and/or whether additional statutory provisions may be applicable;

• Whether Washington courts will adopt, and to what extent they already have adopted, federal law holding companies liable: for retaliation based upon the acts of independent contractors and others, *see Trent*, 41 F.3d at 526 (finding reasonable belief under federal law for the report of an outside lecturer's sexist language); and directly for the acts of customers and private individuals, *see Galdamez v. Potter*, 415 F. 3d 1015, 1022 (9th Cir. 2005) (*citing Folkerson v. Circus Circus Enters., Inc.*, 107 F. 3d 754, 756 (9th Cir 1997)) (holding a company can be liable for the conduct of a private patron where the company fails to take corrective action against impermissible conduct of which it knew or should have known); and

• Whether, and to what extent, WLAD's statutorily-mandated liberal construction to protect victims of discrimination and retaliation might affect the legal inquiry. *See* RCW 49.60.020.

But a layperson does not hold such sophisticated legal knowledge. See Moyo v. Gomez, 40 F.3d 982, 985 (9th Cir. 1994) (consideration of a layperson's reasonable belief must account for the limited legal knowledge a layperson possesses). The purpose of retaliation protection is to permit an individual to report questionable conduct without needing a lawyer and a lawsuit, not to drive individuals to consult a lawyer beforehand. See Trent, 41 F.3d at 526-27. Currier had a reasonable, layperson's belief the conduct he observed was prohibited discrimination.

2. A reasonable person is not a factual omniscient.

NSI's view of a reasonable belief would also require the ability to conduct full, instantaneous discovery. NSI argues plaintiffs need to prove the company was involved in potential discriminatory conduct to be protected from retaliation for reporting it, relying on *Silver*, 586 F.2d 138. The Ninth Circuit, however, has since refused to follow *Silver* when considering reasonable belief to invoke retaliation protection, *see Trent*, 41 F.3d at 526, and has even imposed liability on companies for perceived discriminatory conduct of independent contractors and other nonemployees, *see Galdamaz*, 415 F.3d at 1022; *Folkerson*, 107 F.3d at 756.

But adopting NSI's legal position, *arguendo*, a reasonable person would have to undertake extensive discovery prior to reporting suspected discrimination to gain protection from retaliation. Here, Currier would have needed to investigate to determine whether Howell, who had just left NSI dispatch, was relaying statements or suggestions from NSI employees. Straightforward interrogation of his supervisors would be futile, since the dispatchers would be unlikely to admit discriminatory involvement. *See Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 186-87, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (direct, "smoking gun" evidence is rare when attempting to prove motivation crimes), *overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006). And such interrogation of a supervisor would also likely get him fired, and with no protection against retaliation yet existing.

A reasonable belief, based upon known facts and reasonable inferences, does not require full discovery to invoke retaliation protection. *Moyo*, 40 F.3d at 985.

B. A retaliation victim does not need to prove an underlying discrimination claim.

No court requires a person reporting perceived discriminatory conduct to be a legal scholar, legal seer, and factual omniscient, nor does it require the person to prove the underlying discrimination claim. A reasonable belief based upon observed facts and a common sense view of the law is enough; an actual unlawful employment practice is not required. *See Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 461, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000); *Estevez*, 129 Wn.App. at 798; *Graves*, 76 Wn.App. at 887; *accord* under federal law, *Trent*, 41 F.3d at 526 (rejecting *Silver*, 586 F.2d 138).

C. Even if Currier needed to prove NSI's discriminatory involvement, the record supports his reasonable belief.

NSI inaccurately asserts: "Currier admitted that he knew Northland had not engaged in employment discrimination." Pet. 9 (citing CP 253). That is false: NSI cites this to Plaintiffs' Response to Summary Judgment, which states Plaintiffs' retaliation claim "*isn't* based upon NSI's discrimination," *because* Currier has no need to prove a discrimination claim against NSI to recover for retaliation. CP 253.

NSI argues it had to be involved in reasonably believed discrimination for WLAD to prohibit NSI from terminating Currier for reporting it. *See* Pet. 11. The "reasonable belief" standard has no such requirement. However, even if it did, the record supports a reasonable belief that NSI was involved in the discriminatory conduct:

Just as Howell was leaving dispatch, he yelled a racist statement at Martinez that Martinez received less favorable assignments from NSI based upon race. *See* RP 162:24-167:9. Currier told McQuade, NSI's Quality Assurance Manager, he didn't report the incident to dispatch (Sleeth and Franssen) because he thought they were part of the problem. RP 163:13-167:13. Previously, Sleeth, then an NSI driver, unsuccessfully encouraged Currier to wear a white hood to scare an African-American driver. RP 149:19-21; 150:13-22; 151:20-152:4. On another occasion, Franssen stood by silently while a Caucasian driver told two Latino drivers that all Mexicans were thieves and demanded to know what they had been stealing. RP 158:6-159:8.

Currier did not make, nor did he need to prove, a discrimination claim at trial; that does not exonerate NSI of discrimination. Actionable discrimination is not a condition precedent to a retaliation claim. Even if Currier needed to provide evidence of NSI involvement – and he does not – the record supports a reasonable belief that NSI dispatch was involved in the discriminatory conduct.

D. The Court of Appeals correctly stated and applied the law.

NSI concedes that the Court of Appeals correctly held retaliation does not require proof of an actual violation of the law. Pet. 8. NSI then incorrectly states the Court of Appeals lowered the standard for reasonable belief to any conduct reasonably viewed as "discriminatory," even if not arguably covered by WLAD. *See* Pet. 8-9.

The Court of Appeals states: "Washington cases have likewise held that a plaintiff need not prove the conduct opposed was in fact discriminatory but need show only that he or she reasonably believed it was discriminatory." Op. 11. The Court of Appeals cites this statement of "reasonable belief" to Washington case law that ties reasonable belief to a layperson's perception of *unlawful* discrimination. Op. 11, n. 29. The Court of Appeals then cites Ninth Circuit decisions for the proposition that reasonable belief should make due allowance for the fact that citizens will have limited knowledge of the legal basis for their claims. *See* Op. 10.

The Court of Appeals then concludes Currier had a reasonable belief the conduct was a discriminatory *practice* – the very word used in RCW 49.60.210(1) tying the discrimination to an unlawful practice. *See* Op. 11. The Court of Appeals did not depart from clearly established law, but rather agreed with the trial court that Currier had a reasonable, layperson's belief what he saw was prohibited discrimination.

E. WLAD language supports a reasonable belief here.

RCW 49.60.210 requires opposition to "any practices forbidden by this chapter." NSI claims Currier must establish discrimination to an unspecified degree of certainty under RCW 49.60.180(3) (the statutory provision prohibiting employment discrimination based upon various protected classes, including race). *See* Pet. 15.

This assertion fails under the law. Currier had a reasonable belief there was discrimination in employment conditions based upon a statement that Martinez was receiving less favorable work assignments because he was Latino, satisfying Currier's reasonable belief of a RCW 49.60.180(3) violation.

And Currier is not limited to the forbidden practices under RCW 49.60.180(3). The opposed practice could be *any* prohibited by the chapter, including the broad rights afforded under RCW 49.60.030(1), where the legislature provided a non-exclusive list of *broadly construed* (RCW 49.60.020) protections. This Court has extended at least some of those protections to independent contractors. *See Marquis*, 130 Wn.2d 97. Any argued uncertainty in the scope of WLAD only further illustrates Currier's layperson belief of prohibited discrimination was reasonable.

NSI next turns to administrative code, urging adoption of the Human Rights Commission's view that legally-cognized independent contractors are not protected under RCW 49.60.180 (unfair employment practices). *See* WAC 162.16.230(1) (Jurisdiction – Independent Contractors).³ But that provides NSI no support here: (1) Currier's claim is for retaliation, under RCW 49.60.210(1); and (2) HRC knew that, and

³ HRC specifically recognizes independent contractors are protected under RCW 49.60.030(1)'s general civil rights. WAC 162-16-230(2).

exercised jurisdiction over Currier's claim when he reported it, *see* RP 931:11-932:6.

F. NSI's "unrelated third parties" escape attempt is legally and factually unsupported.

NSI attempts to avoid responsibility by asserting this was all behavior among "unrelated third parties" – presumably, unrelated to NSI. *See* Pet. 11. There is no such loophole here.

As previously discussed, the issue is one of reasonable belief. *See Estevez*, 129 Wn.App. at 798; *Graves*, 76 Wn.App. at 887. Currier had a reasonable belief under the law that what he observed on its face was not permissible, and that he could not be fired for reporting it. Federal law has imposed company liability based upon actions of independent contractors and others. *See Trent*, 41 F.3d at 526; *Galdamaz*, 415 F.3d at 1022.

As previously discussed, Currier had a reasonable factual belief – not only that the statement on its face was discriminatory – but that in the context of previous behavior, NSI dispatchers were likely involved. NSI was not factually "unrelated" to the conduct.

Nor was NSI unrelated to the parties involved. Howell was one of NSI's drivers. NSI hired him, paid him, assigned him his routes, and authorized him to be on NSI's facility. Howell was present for the sole purpose of doing work for NSI, at NSI's request. There was no one else to

report his conduct to: NSI's drivers were mostly, if not entirely, sole owners/operators, just like Currier and Howell. The *only* entity with any control over Howell's conduct, the only entity that could stop Howell from apparent-discriminatory conduct on NSI's facility, was NSI.

This Court previously rejected an invitation to create such a "don't blame me, I just run the place" loophole. *See Afoa*, 176 Wn.2d 460. There, the Port argued it merely granted individuals licenses to operate at its facility, so it could not be responsible for providing a safe work environment. *See id.* at 479. This Court reasoned: "The Port is the only entity with sufficient supervisory and coordinating authority to ensure safety in this complex multiemployer work site. If the Port does not keep Sea-Tac Airport safe for workers, it is difficult to imagine who will." *Id.*

Here, the issue is a non-discriminatory work environment: NSI authorized Howell to be at its facility; solely benefitted from his presence; and was the only entity that could act to stop his abusive conduct.

But the issue is not whether the reasoning of *Afoa* actually extends to discriminatory conduct, but whether Currier had a reasonable belief NSI had some legal responsibility here. If it is arguable among lawyers, it is a reasonable belief for a layperson. *See Moyo*, 40 F.3d at 985.

Despite NSI's protestations that it isn't related to the incident or people involved, every path through the facts supports Currier's reasonable belief, and holds NSI accountable for its retaliatory actions.

G. Public policy favors protecting citizens against retaliation.

NSI cautions this Court about the message the Court of Appeals' opinion sends. But that message is not a new one: businesses cannot terminate individuals for reporting conduct they reasonably perceive is prohibited. That is and has always been the wheelhouse of Washington's protection against retaliation.

Failure to protect Currier against retaliatory termination for opposing outrageous language and conduct at NSI would have a chilling effect against any person who considers reporting such conduct. But frankly, that chilling effect has already occurred: Currier has had to fight against retaliation since his contract was terminated in August 2008, and continues still – because he stood up for a Latino co-worker against racist language and potential discriminatory assignments, at a company who allowed it and whose supervisors may have been participants.

To the average citizen, this case sends a message: stand up, and risk over six years of hard-fought litigation before justice is done, if it is done. In the meantime, try to manage with whatever pieces of a career

you have left. Unfortunately for Larry Currier, there were none – and he and his family suffered for it.

IV. Fee Request

Counsel for Respondents request their costs and attorneys' fees for answering the Petition for Review, under RAP 18.1(j).

V. Conclusion

The facts and law here support the decisions of the trial court and Court of Appeals. Even if this Court took review of this case and narrowed the retaliation protections currently available to Washington citizens, the factual record here would *still* support Currier's recovery by supporting a reasonable, layperson's belief: of the law at the time of reporting; of all the facts as Currier observed them (including the discriminatory implications of the reported statements); and of possible involvement of NSI dispatchers in the incident, based upon previous statements, conduct, and the nature and location of Howell's comments. Review would not change the factually focused resolution of this case. There is nothing in this case that warrants review under RAP 13.4.